IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, DANIEL LEE DOYLE, was the Defendant in the trial court of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, the Honorable Leroy H. Moe presiding; Appellee, State of Florida, was the Plaintiff in the trial court. They will be referred to in this Brief as the "Appellant" and "Appellee" or "State".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, DANIEL LEE DOYLE, was arrested on the instant charges and was indicted by the Broward County Grand Jury for one count of First Degree Murder of Pamela Kipp and one count of Sexual Battery upon Pamela Kipp with force likely to cause serious personal injury. On February 25, 1982, a lengthy evidentiary hearing was held on Defendant's pretrial motions including Motion to Suppress Statements, Motion to Suppress Evidence seized from search and seizure, and Motion to Dismiss the Indictment based upon the destruction of evidence. The Motion to Suppress articles was denied (Tr. Vol. II, P. 282), the Motion to Dismiss was denied (Tr. Vol. II, P. 289), and the Motion to Suppress Statements was denied (Tr. Vol. II, P. 294). Thereafter, on March 29, 1982, after some hesitation by defense counsel in answering ready for trial (Tr. Vol. III, P. 304), the trial in the instant matter began, and the Defendant was found guilty as charged of First Degree Murder and of Sexual Battery with force likely to cause serious personal injury (Tr. Vol. VIII, P. 1302).

The jury was returned and heard evidence for the advisory portion of the capital trial and the jury returned an advisory sentence recommending death by an eight to four

II

vote (Tr. Vol. IX, P. 1395). Thereafter, the Defendant was adjudicated guilty on both counts (Tr. Vol. IX, P. 1400), and a presentence investigation was ordered. On May 13, 1982, the Defendant was present in court for sentencing, and Leroy H. Moe sentenced the Defendant to death in the electric chair (Tr. Vol. IX, P. 1413). The instant appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant, DANIEL LEE DOYLE, lived on the same street and was a neighbor of the Kipp family, including Pamela Kipp, the victim in this case, in Miramar, Broward County, Florida. On September 5, 1981, the Defendant was seen doing yard work in the Kipp's yard which including clipping branches and hedges (Tr. Vol. V, P. 678), and, in fact, Appellant's truck was seen full of bushes about 3:30 P.M. on September 5, 1981 (Tr. Vol. V, P. 714). On that same day, the victim, Pamela Kipp, was seen jogging in the area between 4:00 and 5:00 in the afternoon (Tr. Vol. V, P. 705). The Appellant's truck was seen parked in the area of 130 Street and Miramar Parkway at approximately 5:00 P.M. (Tr. Vol. V, P. 718) which was the same area in which the victim was seen to be jogging (Tr. Vol. V, P. 717). Later that same afternoon, David Familgietti helped to pull Appellant's truck out of the mud where it was stuck in a field in the area of 132 Street and Miramar Parkway (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 892). The friends and family of Pamela Kipp noticed that she was gone and at 7:45 that same evening, September 5, 1981, the victim's sister, Barbara Kipp, learned that the victim was neither at home nor at work nor at any of her friends houses (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 817).

IV

After further checking, a missing persons call was reported to Sergeant Cerniglia of the Miramar Police Department (Tr. Vol. V, P. 787) and a large scale search by volunteers, friends, relations, and the Appellant took place. While the victim's ring was found on the night of September 5, 1981, during the search (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 923), the body of Pamela Kipp was not discovered until approximately 8:00 A.M. on the next day, Sunday, September 6, 1981, in the area of the field near 132 Street and Miramar Parkway (Tr. Vol. V, P. 696). Also found in the vicinity of the nude body of Pamela Kipp was a beige carpet and fresh tree clippings as well as ruts in the mud where a vehicle had been stuck (Tr. Vol. V, P. 791). The victim's dog was also found in the area with its leash tied to a tree.

Before the discovery of the body of Pamela Kipp, the Appellant was in fact questioned by Miramar Police officers as being the last person to see Pamela Kipp (Tr. Vol VII, P. 1005). Upon questioning, Appellant accompanied police officers to a place in the area behind the area mailboxes to show where he had dumped the clippings from the Kipp yard work earlier on September 5, 1981 (Tr. Vol. VII, P. 1007-1008). It was noticed at that time by police officers that the clippings were some

V

what dried out and did not look fresh (Tr. Vol. VII, P. 1010). After taking the police officers to the area, Appellant assisted in the search for Pamela Kipp until a point where he went to get boots and never came back to continue the search (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 874-875). Upon being requested to do so, Appellant accompanied by his girlfriend Karen Wentnik responded to the Miramar Police Department where Defendant was given his constitutional rights and gave a tape recorded statement (Tr. Vol. VII, P. 1015). After the tape recorded statement by Appellant, the Appellant was informed of discrepancies in the statement by Miramar Police officers including the fact that the front-end loader which the Defendant claimed he saw on the day before the murder, September 4, 1981, was in fact not present until the day of the murder, September 5, 1981 (Tr. Vol. V, P. 757, Vol. VII, P. 1042). The Appellant was also informed that the clippings which he showed the police officers looked older than they should have (Tr. Vol. V, P. 1043). Appellant then made a nonrecorded inculpatory statement to the police officers (Tr. Vol. VII, P. 1043) with such statement being repeated and changed somewhat in subsequent tape-recorded statements made while the Appellant was in the Broward County Jail. While admitting having sex with the victim and killing

VI

the victim, the Appellant explained the fact that he was intoxicated at the time and in fact had blacked out and in fact had no recollection of details of the incident (Tr. Vol. VII, P. 1123-1124).

The victim, Pamela Kipp, was found to have been killed by strangulation and to have had sex while she was still alive (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 971), however, there was no sperm or semen present (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 978) nor were there tears in the vagina or bruises on the external genitalia (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 978). Attempts to lift fingerprints from the body of the victim were negative (Tr. Vol. V, P. 796) and there were no footprints nor tire marks casted photographed or prepared (Tr. Vol. VI, P. 919).

Other facts will be cited throughout the Brief as appropriate.

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENTS DUE TO THE LOSS OR DESTRUCTION OF TAPE-RECORDED STATEMENTS OF THE APPELLANT

During the preparation of the Appellant's defense, the Appellant's trial lawyer inadvertently discovered the nondisclosed fact that there were tape-recorded statements made by the Appellant to a hypnotist, Martin Segal, in the course of the investigation in the instant case. On November 5, 1981, during a pretrial hearing, it was agreed by the Assistant State Attorney that such taped statements should be totally accessible to the defense and available for copying.

On February 25, 1982, an evidentiary hearing was held before the trial court on various motions including the Appellant's motion to dismiss due to the destruction of favorable evidence (Tr. Vol. I, P. 19-20). During the course of such evidentiary hearing, it was elicited that the Appellant was questioned on numerous occasions by the Miramar Police Department and gave numerous and often contradictory statements regarding his participation or not in the alleged murders: on September 6, 1981, oral statements given to Detective Buzzo by Appellant at the scene denying any involvement (Tr. Vol. I, P. 28-30);

subsequent tape-recorded statement on September 6, 1981, in which Appellant denied involvement in the incident yet gave considerable detail as to his activities of the day of the murder (Tr. Vol. I, P. 38-50); a subsequent oral "corrected" statement given by Appellant on September 6, 1981, after being confronted with discrepancies by Detective Buzzo, in which Appellant implicated himself in the murder by assisting and witnessing an unknown white male in the rape and murder of the victim, Pamela Kipp (Tr. Vol. I, P. 57-58); an oral, non-taped statement on September 8, 1981, in the form of a confession to the killing of Pamela Kipp and implications in the killing of Monica Ruddick (Tr. Vol. I, P. 134-141); a taperecorded statement in the form of a confession on September 8, 1981, giving details regarding Pamela Kipp (Tr. Vol. I, P. 144-169); taped statement on September 11, 1981, in the form of a confession giving details regarding the Pamela Kipp incident (separated from the tape regarding the Monica Ruddick incident) (Tr. Vol. I, P. 170-173); and a tape-recorded statement on September 15, 1981, while the Appellant was under hypnosis wherein the Appellant supposedly confessed to the Pamela Kipp murder and retracted his confession regarding Monica Ruddick (Tr. Vol. I, P. 175-176).

The session under hypnosis on September 15, 1981, was tape recorded and due to that tape recording, the hypnotist, Mr. Segal, made no notes of what transpired at the session (Tr. Vol. I, P. 109), although Officer Bellrose did take notes (Tr. Vol. I, P. 187). It was Mr. Segal's testimony that, upon being hypnotized, the Appellant initially admitted to both the Kipp murder and the Ruddick murder, and upon further questioning, then retracted his confession to the Ruddick murder by saying that he simply confessed because Appellant felt that someone should pay for that particular murder (Tr. Vol. I, P. It was the further testimony of Mr. Segal that 113). Appellant refused to answer some questions and these questions were recalled to be all regarding "the second murder" which was the murder that the Appellant denied upon hypnosis (Tr. Vol. I, P. 114-117). Mr. Segal was allowed to testify that the Appellant had a good rapport with Mr. Segal, that the Appellant understood communications, and that the Appellant understood his constitutional rights, and that the Appellant had sufficient intellectual level for hypnosis to be effective (Tr. Vol. I, P. 114-119). These tape recordings and all of the notes of Officer Bellrose taken at the time of such tape-recorded statements were misplaced or lost (Tr. Vol. I, P. 187).

Detective Bellrose made no police report setting forth the substance of said tape-recorded statements until approximately three to four months after the statements were given (Tr. Vol. I, P. 187), and, in fact, Detective Bellrose never mentioned the hypnosis session where the Appellant allegedly made statements at any point in his police reports prior to his supplemental report made three to four months afterwards (Tr. Vol. I, P. 188).

The due process concepts set forth in <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963) was clarified by the Supreme Court in <u>Moore v. Illinois</u>, 408 U.S. 786, 92 S.Ct. 2562; 33 L.ed.2d 706 (1972), where the following three criteria for measuring <u>Brady</u> violations for non-production of favorable evidence were set forth:

	ssion by the prosecution
after a	a request by the defense;
	Idence's favorable character
for the	e defense;
c. The mat	ceriality of the evidence.
P. 794.	

While the Appellant does not suggest that the failure to produce the taped statements calls for an automatic reversal of a conviction, See <u>State v. Sobel</u>, 363 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1978), the Appellant does contend that the failure to produce such taped statements is a serious due process violation, which, after applying the balancing

approach as adopted in <u>Sobel</u>, supra, at P. 327, requires reversal.

In applying the three-prong test set forth in Moore v. Illinois, supra, P. 794, it becomes clear that the facts in the instant case support a due process violation and mandate a reversal of the instant conviction. Without the taped statements and without the notes made at the time of the statements, Appellant is left at the mercy of the memories of Martin Segal and Detective Bellrose (a major investigator in the case) regarding the lack of confusion as to which confession was recanted, regarding the existence of any partial recantations of the other confession, and regarding the existence of new or inconsistent factors when considered in relationship to the numerous prior statements made by Appellant. The favorable character of these tape-recorded statements also becomes apparent when the evolution of the earlier statements is taken into As was pointed out earlier, Appellant made account. numerous statements and each statement was an entity within itself with new and usually different information than the prior. It certainly becomes apparent that this statement which is not available to the Appellant would have great importance to the Appellant in not only testing the reliability of prior statements by the Appellant, but

as an impeachment source of oral statements, and, more importantly, as being a solid indicator of the Appellant's psychological makeup, his mental stability, his grasp of the situation, his ability to communicate, etc., which directly goes to the acceptability of this and prior statements presented to the jury and goes to Appellant's ability to understand and waive his "Miranda rights".

The Assistant State Attorney involved made no attempt to sustain the State's burden of showing a lack of prejudice to the Appellant for the lack of the tape, See <u>Sobel</u>, supra; <u>Krantz v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 211 (1981); but instead concentrated on convincing the court that the destruction was negligent and not intentional (Tr. Vol. II, P. 288). The court, in denying the motion to dismiss for a loss of the evidence, erroneously placed this burden of proving prejudice upon the Appellant.

When dealing with due process and materiality of the suppressed or lost evidence involved, it has been held that the test is to be applied generously to the defendant when there is substantial room for doubt as to what effect disclosure of the evidence might have had upon the outcome of the trial. See <u>Budman v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 122 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1978); <u>Levin v. Clark</u>, 408 F.2d 1209 (U.S.D.C. 1967). Consequently, based on the beneficial nature of

the missing recordings and the materiality of said recordings, coupled with the failure of the State to prove the lack of prejudice to the Appllant, due process requires that the conviction and sentence in the instant matter be reversed for the failure to produce taperecorded statements of the Appellant.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING VARIOUS STATEMENTS OF THE APPELLANT INTO EVIDENCE BEFORE THE JURY

Α.

The warings given Appellant regarding his constitutional rights under the Fifth Amendment were inadequate.

During the course of the investigation into the slaying of Pamela Kipp, Detective Buzzo and Detective Guess and Detective Bellrose had occasion to question Appellant, interrogate the Appellant, and eventually elicit statements submitted at the trial of Appellant. At no time was an attorney present with Appellant at any of the interrogation sessions (Tr. Vol. I, P. 179). Nonetheless, due to the fact that Appellant was allegedly given his "Miranda rights" (Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966)), the detectives chose to continue their investigation and interrogate the Appellant without the presence of Appellant's attorney. After the eliciting of the first oral statement, the Appellant was effectively in custody with the investigation focusing upon him due to the discrepancies in the evidence and the statement (Tr. Vol. I, P. 72; Tr. Vol. I, P. 102).

It is well established law in this country that in any case involving interrogation by law enforcement officers, certain specified warnings must be given to a person in

custody before questioning can occur, and certain specified procedures during the course of any such interrogation must be followed. <u>Michigan v. Mosley</u>, 423 U.S. 96, 96 S.Ct. 321 (1975) P. 324. Such warnings must inform the person in custody that he "has the right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has a right to the presence of an attorney either retained or appointed". <u>Miranda</u>, supra, P. 1612. Notwithstanding the voluntary nature of such resultant statement, no statements made by the person interrogated can be admitted into evidence over his objection without the defendant being first advised of such rights. See <u>Michigan v. Mosely</u>, supra, P. 325; <u>Michigan v. Tucker</u>, 417 U.S. 433, 94 S.Ct. 2357 (1974) P. 2363.

While it was testified at the motion to suppress, the Appellant was given his "Miranda rights" before being interrogated at the various times, it is equally clear that these rights were insufficient to advise the Appellant of his Fifth Amendment privileges during the three statements given by the Appellant: the statement of September 6, 1981; the statement of September 8, 1981; and the statement of September 11, 1981. Although on September 8, 1981, Detective Bellrose correctly and adequately apprised the Appellant of his constitutional rights and his privileges regarding those rights:

If you decide to answer questions now without an attorney present, you will still have the right to stop answering at any time until you talk to an attorney. Do you understand? (Tr. Vol. I, P. 131).

However, on the tape-recorded statements given by the Appellant, the constitutional rights as given by Detective Buzzo and Detective Bellrose were inadequate in that they did not include the Defendant's right to terminate interrogation at any time (Tr. Vol. I, P. 38-40; Tr. Vol. I, P. 145-146).

In interpreting the warnings mandated by <u>Miranda v.</u> Arizona, supra, the Supreme Court has held that:

> A reasonable and faithful interpretation of the <u>Miranda</u> opinion must rest on the intention of the court in that case to adopt "fully effective means...to notify the person of his right to silience and to assure that the exercise of the right will be scrupulously honored... 384 U.S., at 479, 86 S.Ct., at 1630. The critical safeguard identified in the passage at issue is a person's "right to cut off questioning" Id. at 474, 86 S.Ct. at 1627.

Through the exercise of this option to terminate questioning, he can control the time at which questioning occurs, the subjects discussed and the duration of the interrogation. P. 326. See also, <u>Shriner v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1980) P. 529.

As the right to cut off questioning has been held to be the critical safeguard protected under Miranda, it is logical to require the notification of the soon to be interrogated subject that he does in fact enjoy the right to limit questioning if he so desires. Under the facts of the instant case, the shortcoming is blatant due to the Appellant's diminished capacity and mental ability (Tr. Vol. II, P. 207, 213, 225, 266, 272), and due to the inconsistencies of the resultant confusion of the Appellant being advised at one point that he had the right to stop questioning at any time (Tr. Vol. I, P. 131), and being advised on at least two other occasions of a purported battery of rights which did not include the right to terminate questioning. Due to the inadequacy of the warnings regarding his Fifth Amendment rights given to the Appellant, statements made by the Appellant must be suppressed, notwithstanding the question of voluntariness. Michigan v. Mosely, supra, P. 325.

<u>B.</u>

The evidence elicited at the motion to suppress and at the trial was insufficient to demonstrate a knowing and intelligent waiver of Appellant's constitutional rights under the Fifth Amendment.

Notwithstanding the inadequacy of the warnings regarding Appellant's Miranda rights before interrogation, the trial

court erred in admitting statements by Appellant due to the fact that there was inadequate evidence to support a finding that such Miranda rights were knowingly and intelligently waived by the Appellant, and that the resultant statements were freely and voluntarily given.

> If the interrogation continues without the presence of an attorney, and a statement is taken, a heavy burden rests on the Government to demonstrate that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against selfincrimination and his right to a retained or appointed lawyer. Escobedo v. Illinois, 378 U.S. 478, 490 n. 14, 84 S.Ct. 1758, 1764; 12 L.ed.2d 977. This Court has always set high standards of proof for the waiver of constitutional rights, <u>Johnson v.</u> Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1018; 83 L.ed. 1461 (1938), and we reassert these standards as applied to incustody interrogation. Tague v. Illinois, U.S.__, 100 S.Ct. 652 (1980) P. 653.

Although Detective Buzzo testified at the motion to suppress that Appellant understood his constitutional rights (Tr. Vol. I, P. 34, P. 64), Martin Segal testified that in his opinion there was no doubt that Appellant understood his rights (Tr. Vol. I, P. 114-115), it was testified by Doctor Robert Wylan, Director of Psychological Services for the Broward County Schools, that Appellant

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