# FILED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL LEE DOYLE,

Appellant,

v.

۲. آبر ا

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

JAN 6 1983

SID J. WHITE GLERK SUPREMIE COURT uty Ciert

CASE NO. 62,212

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RUSSELL S. BOHN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-5295 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT DUE TO THE LOSS OF THE TAPE RECORDING OF APPELLANT'S STATEMENT WHILE UNDER HYPNOSIS.

Appellant alleges reversible error in the failure of the trial judge to dismiss the case due to the loss of the tape of the hypnosis session and of Detective Bellrose's notes of that session along with the tape. The underpinning of Appellant's argument is that the substance of Appellant's statements during the hypnosis session, which occurred after all of the other statements had been given, could have been especially important to the defense as a vehicle for possible further evaluation of what Appellant alleges were numerous and important contradictory elements of his prior statements. Appellee maintains that there is absolutely no basis for reversal under this point.

Appellee would respectfully request this Court to review all of the statements made by Appellant which have been outlined in Appellee's Statement of the Facts. When read successively, Appellee maintains that the statements do not present essential, contradictory elements, but rather demonstrate a logical progression from denial of guilt to admission thereof. Specifically, in the first statement Appellant denied involvement in the Kipp murder. In the second statement, he admitted involvement but claimed that the primary perpetrator was some

-12-

unknown white male. During the third statement (R 1112), which was not taped, Appellant finally admitted that he alone killed Pamela Kipp, but maintained that he "blacked out" during the incident. Significantly, Appellant told Bellrose at that point that he would try to recall more details about the incident and would contact Bellrose if he did (R 1114). Appellant did in fact contact Bellrose, and the fourth and fifth statements, both of which were taped (R 1120-1131; 1136-1148), are essentially alike. The two statements share what Appellant submits is a minor inconsistency; that is, in both statements Appellant claimed that the victim complied with his efforts, but also said that they fought during the incident. Comparing the two statements, Appellee further submits that they differ in only one detail, and that is that in the fifth statement Appellant said that the victim was unconscious during intercourse (R 1143, 1145), which he did not say during the fourth statement. It is particularly important to note that all of these statements were made before the hypnosis session on September 15, so that none of the additional details which Appellant was able to progressively provide can be claimed to have been the product of a hypnotic process, suggestive or otherwise.

Appellant also argues that the tape of the hypnosis session was essential to the defense because it was unclear which of the two homicides Appellant denied committing during that session. Appellee acknowledges that the testimony of the hypnotist Martin Segall (R 105-119) is unclear on this point because Mr. Segall could not recall the names of the victims (R 113), and referred to the two murders as "the one" homicide

-13-

and "the second one." However, Detective Bellrose was unequivocal in his testimony that Appellant admitted killing Pamela Kipp and denied killing Monica Ruddick (R 175). His testimony on this point is buttressed by the detail with which Appellant was able to describe the murder of Pamela Kipp in his fourth and fifth statements, discussed above, especially regarding the victim's ring (R 1146) which was found during the search for her body, the discovery of which in fact lead to the discovery of her body (R 790-795, 850-853).

Further, regarding the issue of the alleged prejudice due to the loss of the tape, when the trial judge announced his ruling denying the motion to dismiss, he questioned whether there could have been any prejudice because he felt that the admissibility of the tape of that session was questionable at best (R 289). Interestingly enough, just before the State rested, the prosecutor proffered the portion of the hypnosis testimony where Appellant admitted killing Pamela Kipp, and defense counsel's objection to that testimony was made and sustained on the same basis upon which the trial judge had questioned its admissibility at the end of the suppression hearing (R 1174-1175). If for no other reason than that, the defense should now be estopped to argue prejudice because of the unavailability of the tape. Finally, there has never been any contention in this case that the missing tape was intentionally lost or destroyed. As Appellee has argued, the homicide which Appellant denied during the hypnotic session was the Ruddick murder, and not the murder of Pamela Kipp. Thus, Appellee maintains that there was neither an intentional withholding of evidence nor any denial of due process because there is no

-14-

indication that the missing tape recording would have been beneficial to Appellant, even if it would have been admissible. <u>See State v. Sobel</u>, 363 So.2d 324, 328 (Fla. 1978).

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS INTO EVIDENCE.

А

APPELLANT WAS GIVEN ADEQUATE WARNINGS REGARDING HIS CON-STITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Appellant argues that the admonitions given him at the beginning of his taped statements to the police were inadequate under <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), because only at the beginning of one of the three statements was there an explicit warning of his right to terminate interrogation. Appellee maintains that there is absolutely no merit to this argument either in fact or in law.

An examination of the statement taken on September 6, 1981 (R 1024-1042), September 8, 1981 (R 1120-1131), and the statement taken on September 11, 1981 (R 1136-1148), will show that each interrogation was initiated with a textbookperfect recitation of the warnings mandated by the <u>Miranda</u> case. The <u>Miranda</u> opinion itself clearly comprehends that a proper recitation of the warnings prescribed in that case would advise a defendant not only of his right to remain silent initially, but also of his right to cutoff questioning. 384 U.S. at 445, 473-474. In light of the clarity of the warnings delivered on each occasion at issue in this case, that conclusion clearly applies in this case.

Moreover, Appellant concedes that an explicit statement of his right to terminate questioning was delivered during

-16-

one of the interrogations, but faults the other two for the lack of that same warning. However, Appellant's argument fails upon a close scrutiny of the statements. First, he incorrectly states that Detective Bellrose advised Appellant of his right to terminate questioning during the statement of September 8. Actually, the "model warning" was delivered at the beginning of the September 11 statement (R 1136-1137), not at the beginning of the September 8 statement (R 1120-1121). Significantly, it was during the September 8 statement that Appellant explicitly indicated that he understood his right to terminate questioning despite the alleged lack of adequate warnings. Near the end of that interrogation, when Detective Bellrose was asking him about his sex drive and his sexual preferences, Appellant noted that he had been cooperative up to that point, but said that if that line of questioning continued, "I'll just put a stop to it now. I'll just go back." (R 168, 1130). The full context of this statement by Appellant appears only in the tape which was played during the suppression hearing, because extraneous matters had been edited from the version of the tape which was played at trial (compare R 164-168 with R 1129-1130). Thus. the record clearly establishes that Appellant was fully aware of his rights to limit or terminate questioning even before that right had been presented to him in those terms by Detective Bellrose on September 11.

-17-

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS ELICITED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT APPELLANT WAS CAP-ABLE OF A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Appellant here argues that his statements should have been suppressed because there was insufficient evidence demonstrating his mental capacity to knowingly and intelligently waive his Fifth Amendment rights. The trial court's determination on this type of an issue is entitled to the usual presumption of correctness which attends a lower court's determination of suppression issues generally. <u>See Ross v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 1980). Appellee maintains that the trial judge's conclusion on this issue is adequately supported by the testimony.

Regarding Appellant's intelligence level, Dr. Seth Krieger, a clinical psychologist, interpreted I.Q. tests which had been taken when Appellant was nine years old and sixteen years old (R 224). Dr. Krieger had not done any formal I.Q. testing of Appellant himself (R 224), but did assess his intelligence clinically based on his observation of Appellant and concluded that his I.Q. level was between 70 and 80; between 90 and 110 is average, and between 80 and 70 is below average (R 227). This assessment appeared to be higher than the two tests which had been taken when Appellant was nine and sixteen years of age (R 227-228). [At trial, Dr. John McClure, another clinical psychologist who tested Appellant in January of 1981, testified that Appellant's verbal I.Q. was 71, and his per-

В

-18-

formance I.Q. was 85. The full scale I.Q. was 75, which placed Appellant in the lower 5 percent of the normal population in a range which is called borderline retardation (R 1212).]

A comparison of these evaluations with those of defendant Ross, <u>id</u>. at 1194, will show that Appellant's I.Q. in each category was higher than Ross', and the testimony of Dr. McClure at trial appears to validate Dr. Krieger's evaluation at the suppression hearing that Appellant's I.Q. had improved since the two tests that had been taken at earlier ages. On crossexamination, Dr. Krieger testified that Appellant had dyslexia, and could not write the alphabet. However, he also testified that Appellant would know what an attorney was, that if he was told that he did not have to speak to the police he would have no problem with that, and that if he was told that he had the right to remain silent he would understand that (R 238-239). Dr. Krieger also stated that Appellant clearly knew that if he spoke with the police he was putting himself in jeopardy (R 241-242).

Dr. Krieger had not seen the report (R 242) filed by Dr. Arnold Eichert, a court-appointed psychiatrist who had examined Appellant (R 268-269). Dr. Eichert testified that he felt that Appellant suffered from some sort of organic brain defect (R 269), but also concluded that Appellant's intelligence was sufficient to enable him to understand what an attorney was, his right to remain silent, and that he would understand his Miranda rights if they were read to him (R 269-271). Mr. Martin Segall, the hypnotherapist, had no doubt that Appellant understood his rights when they were read to him (R 115).

-19-

Perhaps most significantly, it should not be forgotten that Appellant was not a neophyte to the criminal justice system at the time of this investigation. In fact, George Evans, an attorney who was representing Appellant on a prior case (R 76), testified that Appellant would understand if someone advised him of his right to have an attorney during a taped statement (R 81). During a colloquy between the trial judge and Mr. Evans, it was established that Appellant had entered a plea in the prior case, but that efforts to withdraw the plea were under way because the trial judge in that case had allegedly gone outside the parameters of the plea negotiations. Nevertheless, the trial judge felt that the fact that Appellant had experienced that plea proceeding was relevant to the point at issue herein (R 83-85). Finally, despite Dr. Krieger's reservations concerning the Miranda issue, he had no question about Appellant's competence to stand trial (R 235).

Given this state of the record, Appellee maintains that despite Appellant's intellectual limitations, the record demonstrates that the trial judge was correct in rejecting this as a basis for suppression of the statements. At the time the statements were given, Appellant was almost twenty-two years old (R 1120, 1122). His I.Q. scores were higher than the scores of the defendant in <u>Ross</u>. Appellant was no stranger to the criminal justice system (R 83-85, 1549). Finally, as Appellee has demonstrated under part A of this point, Appellant's conduct during the statements clearly demonstrated that he was aware of his rights. Given this record, suppression on the basis urged

-20-

here would have been an error.

С

#### THERE WAS NO NECESSITY TO TERMINATE THE INTERROGATIONS BECAUSE APPELLANT DID NOT REQUEST AN ATTORNEY.

By now it is axiomatic that a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress is clothed with the presumption of correctness on appeal, and the reviewing court will interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978). Given that standard of review, and the record in this case, Appellee maintains that there is no basis for reversal of the trial judge's determination of the issue raised here. Specifically, Appellant alleges that the interrogation should have ceased based on the dialogue from the first taped statement which he quotes at page 16 of his brief. Appellant alleges that his statement that his attorney was out of town was an invocation of his right to the assistance of counsel as that issue was addressed by the United States Supreme Court in Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981).

There are two prongs to Appellant's argument here. The first is that Appellant himself sought to obtain the assistance of counsel before he gave the statements to the police. However, the transcript references for that assertion are from the direct examination of Karen Wentnick, Appellant's girlfriend. On cross-examination, she acknowledged that she could not recall whether obtaining an attorney was her idea or Appellant's (R

-21-

(R 259). She also acknowledged that the police allowed her to be with Appellant during interrogation at Appellant's request (R 255-256), and that Appellant was voluntarily talking with the police (R 265). Based on her testimony, the trial judge specifically found that Appellant never asked Wentnick to obtain a lawyer for him, and that his statements were made voluntarily (R 293-294). The trial judge's conclusion is buttressed by the consistent testimony of the officers that Appellant never requested an attorney (R 60, 124-125, 142-143); the transcripts of the statements bear this out.

The second prong of Appellant's attack is that simply because the police knew that Appellant had an attorney and that efforts were being made by others to contact the attorney, the interrogation should have been terminated under the teachings of the <u>Edwards</u> case. Appellee maintains that the trial judge properly rejected this argument, concluding that even if someone else was attempting to obtain counsel for him, it is only Appellant's assertion of his right to counsel which would necessitate the termination of interrogation (R 293-294).

Appellant is asserting in this case a principle which has become known as the "New York Rule." That rule is based upon the provisions of the New York state constitution, and has been articulated in a line of New York cases beginning with <u>People v. Donovan</u>, 243 N.Y.S.2d 841, 193 N.E.2d 628 (1963). The basic proposition of that rule is that once the police know or have been apprised of the fact that the defendant is represented by counsel or that an attorney has communicated with the police for the purpose of representing him, the defendant's right to counsel attaches and may not be waived in the

-22-

absence of counsel. As the New York courts have acknowledged, their rule extends protection to a defendant beyond that which is afforded by the federal constitution. <u>See People v. Hobson</u>, 384 N.Y.S.2d 419, 348 N.E.2d 894, 897-898 (1976). For example, even in the <u>Edwards</u> case, while the Court held that whenever a defendant expresses in any way a desire for an attorney all interrogation must cease until and unless it is initiated by the defendant himself, the Court never required, as does New York, that the defendant could not initiate further interrogation unless it was in the presence of his attorney.

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